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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

MCKENZIE GRAY,
Raintiff,
V. 516-CV-973 (NAM/TWD)

ONONDAGA-CORTLAND-
MADISON BOCES,

Defendant.

Appearances:

James D. Hartt, Esq.

6 N. Main Street, Suite 200F
Fairport, New York 14450
Attorney for Plaintiff

Charles C. Spagnoli, Esq.

6575 Kirkville Road

East Syracuse, New York 13057

Attorney for Defendant

Hon. Norman A. Mordue, Senior Urited States District Court Judge

MEMORANDUM-DECISION AND ORDER

l. INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff McKenzie Gray brings this action under the Americans with Disabilities A¢

(“ADA"), 42 U.S.C. § 1210%t seq, and Title VII of the Gril Rights Act of 1964 (“Title
VII"), 42 U.S.C. 88 2000e to 2000e-17, assey claims against Defendant Onondaga-
Cortland-Madison Board of Cooperative Edtion Services (“BOCES”) for disability

discrimination, failure to accommatk, and retaliation. (Dkt. N@). Now before the Court ig
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Defendant’s motion for summajydgment, (Dkt. Nos. 56, 653nd Plaintiff's papers in
opposition, (Dkt. No. 64). For the reasons fleidlow, Defendant’s motion is granted.
I. BACKGROUND!?
A. Plaintiff's Empl oyment at BOCES

BOCES provides shared educational programd services tstudents from school
districts within a three-county region of Cehixeew York. (Dkt. No. 1, § 7). Plaintiff was
hired by BOCES as a part-time teaching assista®12. (Dkt. Nos. 56-25, { 7; 64-19, 1 7).
Plaintiff remained in that pdsn throughout her employmentBOCES. (Dkt. No. 56-5, p.
3). Plaintiff's job duties requickher to interact with studentgth emotional and behavioral
disabilities. (Dkt. Nos. 56-25, 1 11; 64-2P11). She was responsible for helping manage
students’ behavior, assistimgth classroom lessons, andetwise following the classroom
teacher’s direction and instruatis. (Dkt. No. 56-5, p. 4). Plaintiff was typically assigned t¢
certain classrooms on a yearly basisl., 0. 5). Her work hours were 8:00 a.m. to 3:00 p.m
(Id., p. 8).

B. Plaintiff's Disabilities

Plaintiff has Hashimoto’s disease, an autmune disorder that affects the thyroid
gland. (Dkt. Nos. 56-25, 1 12; 64-19, T 1P)Jaintiff testified that her condition can cause
exhaustion and muscle pain, and can affectiwrd, metabolism, and her ability to regulate
her body temperature. (Dkt. No. 56-5, p. 12)e Stated that her condition can cause pain i
her back and neck when she becomes strestkdp.(13). Plaintiff testified that she was ab

to perform her job duties as a teachingsiasit despite her Hashimoto’s diseadd., p. 14).

! The facts have been drawn from Defendant’s statement of material facts, (Dkt. No. 56-25), Pla

A4

(S

ntiff's

response and counterstatement of material facts, (Dkt. Nos. 64-18, 64-19), and the parties’ attached

exhibits, depositions, and declaratioasd generallpkt. Nos. 56, 64, 65).




She also claimed that her medical comditcould require accommodation for the physical
parts of the job, such as Iiitj or restraining destructive, vasit, or aggressive studentsd.).

Plaintiff informed BOCES of her Hashimosodisease in 2013 on application for a
summer school position, and again in an e-@iailut a medical appointmiin February 2015.
(Dkt. No. 56-5, pp. 16-17). Plaintiff took medi leave for her Hashimoto’s disease from
October 22, 2014 to November 5, 2014. (Dkt. B®-8). Plaintiff was not disciplined or
terminated for taking that leave. (Dkt. No. 56-5, p.2.9).

C. Misconduct Investigation

On March 27, 2015, J.M., a minor studanthe classroom where Plaintiff was
assigned, reported to the clamsn social worker, Timothy Hamell, that he and another
student, J.C., recently had problems with Plaintifed generallipkt. No. 56-17). During

one incident, J.M. alleged that he and J.C. wétimg together on a school bus when Plaintit

attempted to sit in the same seat with thehd., p. 1). J.M. reported #t when he and J.C. dig

not allow Plaintiff to sitwith them, she called them “little assholesld.). During a separate
incident, J.M. reported that he was alone in Nummel’s office wherPlaintiff “came in and
shut the door.” (Dkt. No. 56-21, | €ee alsdkt. No. 56-17, p. 2). J.M. claimed that Plainti
asked him why he didn’t like her, and ther $thocked him from exitig the office when he
tried to leave. I¢l.).

That same day, Mr. Hummel reported #hacidents to the BOCES Principal, Beth
Cooper, the other classroom social worlkenee Fragale, and the classroom teacher,

Courtney Tianello. (Dkt. No. 56-17, pp. 2, NIs. Tianello told Mr. Hummel that she had

2 In addition to Hashimoto’s disease, Plaintiff also suffers from Post-Traumatic Stress Di
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(“PTSD”). (Dkt. No. 56-5, p. 15). Plaintiff newéenformed BOCES about her PTSD diagnosis. (Dkt.

Nos. 56-25, 1 20; 64-19, 1 2ee alsdkt. No. 56-5, p. 76).




received text messages from Plaintiff statitigit [Plaintiff] was feelhg uncomfortable being
alone” with J.M. and J.C.Id., p. 3). Mr. Hummel met with Rintiff to discuss the incidents,
at which time Plaintiff reported that she had received inappropriate notes from J.M. of a §
nature. [d., p. 2). J.M. later admitted to MHummel that he wrote the notesd.(p. 3). Mr.
Hummel “informed [Plaintiff] thashe should avoid being anad [J.M. and J.C.]” and met
with Plaintiff to “debrief &out her interactions” and “diass appropriate boundariesld.}.

Also on March 27, 2015, Ms. Fragale notifibe BOCES Assistant Bactor of Special
Education, Karen Koch, about cairt comments that were madeRfaintiff by J.M. and J.C.
(Dkt. No. 56-22, 1 4). Assistant Director Koitten met with Plaintiff and BOCES Principal,
Beth Cooper, to investigate the issuased by Ms. Fragale’s reportd( 9 5). During that
meeting, Plaintiff described tltwmments that were made by students in the classrdd. (
Assistant Director Koch recallddat Plaintiff reported thathe had spoken with Ms. Fragale
about her concerns, that Msagale had addressed the commaerits the students, and that
she felt comfortable returning to the classrooin.).( Assistant DirectoKoch told Plaintiff
that the comments were not acceptable, and thaitPi should bring further concerns directl
to her or Principal Cooperld(, 1 6).

Assistant Director Koch told Plaintiff thahe would ensure that “the students receiv
appropriate consequencesiidainformed Plaintiff that she would be assigned to a new
classroom “for her own protection froany inappropriate comments.ld{). She reported that
Plaintiff then “raised strongbjections to being removed @amother classroom and began
downplaying the issues” with the studentkl.,({ 7). According to Plaintiff, she informed
Assistant Director Koch and iRcipal Cooper that she “enjoyéeéing in that classroom,” and

that she did not want to beassigned. (Dkt. No. 56-5, pp. 57-5®&)aintiff claimed that “if

sexual




[the students’] comments and acts were addressed, [ ] imseeting with [her] and the two
boys [about] what's appropriate@dwhat’s not, this whole thingpuld have been avoided.”
(1d.).

Assistant Director Koch rettad that “Plaintiff's sudden reersal of her position when
told she would be moved to another classn for her own proteicin heightened [her]
4| concerns, [because] it appearediftiff was trying to remain in the classroom with J.M. and
J.C. and opposing any suggestion that she wesnofortable with the students’ comments.”
(Dkt. No. 56-22, 1 19). Assistant Director Koalso brought up other performance issues with
Plaintiff, including Plaintiff'stext messages to Ms. Tianello about Mr. Hummel in which she
claimed he was a “terrible” social workeid.(  8). She also told Plaintiff that she had to
report to work on time, and thahe had received reports amuticed herself that Plaintiff
reported to work “late on virtually a daily badiy thirty to forty-fve minutes, even though
Principal Cooper had spoken to her about the problefd., (9). According to Assistant
Director Koch, Plaintiff claimed she was “hagipersonal problems” that were preventing her
from getting to work on time, but “Plaintiff dinot say anything suggesting the problems were
medical in nature or related to any disabilitfDkt. No. 56-22, § 9; Dkt. No. 56-5, pp. 61-62).
Assistant Director Koch encouraged Plaintiffutilize the employee assistance program if
necessary, and reminded Plaintiff that she was@®p to arrive to work on time, and that she
was not permitted to text cethgues during school hours. k{DNo. 56-22, 1 9-10; Dkt. No.
56-5, pp. 60-61, 63).

Assistant Director Koch rettad that Plaintiff “continuedo act extremely upset,” so
she told Plaintiff that she “could sit in [her] office until she felt calm, or that she could go home

if she felt she was too upset to return to tlessioom.” (Dkt. No. 56-22, § 10). She instructed

9%




Plaintiff “not to return to the classroom ihemotional as it wuld be upsetting for the
students to see her.ld(). Shortly afterward, AssistaDirector Koch received a call

informing her that Plaintiff had “gone into tieassroom crying and upgie students, that sh

was repeatedly texting the classroom teachet that she had returned to [Assistant Directoy

Koch’s] office.” (Id., § 12). Assistant Director Koch thegturned to her office with a union
representative and told Plaintiffat she needed to go homéd. (T 15). Plaintiff admits that
she was told to go home but insists that she med upset at the time she returned to the
classroom. (Dkt. No. 56-5, pp. 66—67).

At the end of the school day on March 2015, Assistant Director Koch met with
Principal Cooper, Ms. Fragale, Mr. HummaidaMis. Tianello to evaluate the ongoing issue

with Plaintiff. (Dkt. No. 56-22, § 16). $hwas “greatly concerned” by the reports she
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received “as it appeared thatRitiff was not maintaining appropriate boundaries with the tyo

students, that she was directing inappropigatements at them, thahe was undermining the
classroom social workers, and that the manageofehe classroom igeneral was a serious
problem.” (d., 1 18). After the meeting, Assistantr&tor Koch investigated further and
received additional reports from J.C., Mr. Hummell, and Christina Gonzalez, the other te
assistant in the classroomd.( 11 21-23).

On the morning of March 30, 2015, Assidt&irector Koch met with several other
school administrators, includirBOCES District Superintendentody Manning, and Director
of Labor Relations, Mark PettittId;, T 24). According to AssistaDirector Koch, it was at
that point that “[w]e decided we were not gotoghave Plaintiff continue in employment due

to her poor judgment, unprofessional behavilmsubordination, andther misconduct.” I¢.).

Aching




D. Plaintiff's Notice of Medical Leave
On March 30, 2015, Plaintiff delivered a dmcs note to Pringal Cooper’s office
indicating that she had a “meadi” illness and would need te@ out of work from March 31,

2015 through May 4, 2015. (Dkt. Nos. 56-5, p. G415, p. 2). Plaintiff testified that she

—

needed medical leave because of the recent vedaked “emotional triggers” and “stress” tha
could exacerbate the symptoms of herldigaes. (Dkt. No. 56-5, pp. 69, 72).

According to Mr. Pettitt, BOCES adminiators made the decision to terminate
Plaintiff's employment during emeeting on the morning of Mdr@0, 2015, and the meeting
“was finished and the decision was made beRjaintiff presented tp] BOCES any doctor’s
note requesting time off for meawil reasons, which occurred aftench.” (Dkt. No. 56-24, 1
3). Mr. Pettitt was responsible for settimg a personnel meetingtieeen Plaintiff and
administrators, which he had not done beforenifbdelivered her notice for medical leave.
(Dkt. No. 65-2, 11 2, 5). According to Mr. Pditidnce the administrators decided to terminate
Plaintiff, he “had no authority to refrain frorarminating Plaintiff, regardless of whether she
requested medical leave of finibe indefinite duration.” I¢l., T 8).

On March 31, 2015, Mr. Pettitt called Plaihand asked her to attend a personnel
meeting on April 1, 2015, where irdended to offer Plaintiff anpportunity to respond to the
allegations and to resign in lieu of termiwatif she preferred. (Dkt. No. 56-24, 1 5).
According to Mr. Pettitt, Plaintiff asked him &range for union repredation to be present aft
the meeting. I¢l., T 6;see alsdkt. No. 56-5, p. 74).

Plaintiff testified that, after speaking wiklr. Pettitt, she “reached out to the union,”

who “advised [her] that [she] ditmeed to attend the meeting if [she] was on leave.” (Dkt,




No. 56-5, pp. 73—74). She also contacted her doetw told her that she was approved to |
out of work, including for “verk-related meetings.”ld., p. 75).

At 8:30 a.m. on April 1, 2015, Plaintiff e-mailed Mr. Pettitt informing him that she
unable to attend “work or work related meetifigdDkt. No. 56-12). She informed Mr. Pettitt
that her doctor would be sending a follownagte clarifying her work limitations.Id.).
Plaintiff's doctor then faxed a new note to BO&&ating that he haddiken Ms. Gray out of
work pending further evaluation,” and addingdd not want her attending any disciplinary
meetings.” (Dkt. No. 56-14)Plaintiff did not attend the meeting. (Dkt. No. 56-5, p. 79).

E. Plaintiff's Termination

On April 2, 2015, District Superintendelidy Manning sent Plaiffta letter stating
that her employment at BOCE#&s “terminated effective Wednesday, April 1, 2015.” (Dkt
No. 64-9, p. 2). The termination letter furtheatet that “we attemptedd review the reasons
for this action with you at a mteg that had been scheduled April 1. You declined to
attend this meeting due toedical reasons.”ld.).

BOCES had already terminated the claesn teacher, Ms. Tianello, on March 27,
2015 for her own involvement in the inappropritgeting with Plaintiff during school hours.
(Dkt. Nos. 56-22, | 20; 56-5, p. 81; 64-3, p. 14).

F. NYSDHR Determination

On June 30, 2015, Plaintiff filed a comipleagainst Defendant with the New York
State Division of Human Rights (“NYSDHR”)aming that she was subjected to unlawful
discriminatory practices because of her digbisex, and her opposition to discrimination a

retaliation in the workplace(Dkt. Nos. 64-3, pp. 1-2). On December 5, 2015, a NYSDHR
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evaluator issued a determination findingttthere was “probable cause to support the
allegations of the complaint.”ld, p. 6). Plaintiff then commenced this action.
[I. LEGAL STANDARD

Under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 56@)mmary judgment may be granted onl
if all the submissions taken together “show thatéhs no genuine issue as to any material fact
“|and that the moving party is entitlemljudgment as a matter of lawCelotex Corp. v. Catrett
477 U.S. 317, 322 (198&ee also Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, |@EZ7 U.S. 242, 247-48
(1986). The moving party bears the initial burdédemonstrating “the absence of a genuine
issue of material fact.’Celotex 477 U.S. at 323. A fact is “neial” if it “might affect the
outcome of the suit under the governing law,” angenuinely in dispute “if the evidence is
such that a reasonable jury could reta verdict for te nonmoving party.”Anderson477
U.S. at 248see also Jeffreys v. City of New Y,@gtR6 F.3d 549, 553 (2d Cir. 2005) (citing
Andersol. The movant may meet this burdenshowing that the nonmoving party has
“fail[ed] to make a showing sufficient to establithe existence of an element essential to that
party’s case, and on which that party will bear the burden of proof at tGalStex 477 U.S.
at 322;see also Selevan v. N.Y. Thruway Authl F.3d 253, 256 (2d Cir. 2013) (summary
judgment appropriate whethe nonmoving party fails to “ooe forth with eidence sufficient
to permit a reasonable juror to return a verdidtigor her favor on’ apssential element of a
claim” (quotingln re Omnicom Grp., Inc. Sec. Litjich97 F.3d 501, 509 (2d Cir. 2010)).

If the moving party meets thisurden, the nonmoving party stu'set out specific facts
showing a genuine issue for trialAnderson477 U.S. at 248, 258ge also Celotex77 U.S.
at 323-24Wright v. Goord 554 F.3d 255, 266 (2d Cir. 2009). “When ruling on a summary

judgment motion, the district cdunust construe the facts iretight most favorable to the




non-moving party and must reselall ambiguities and draw atasonable inferences agains

the movant.” Dallas Aerospace, Inc. v. CIS Air Cor352 F.3d 775, 780 (2d Cir. 2003). Stil

the nonmoving party “must do mattean simply show that there some metaphysical doubt @s

to the material facts Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Co#g5 U.S. 574, 586
(1986), and cannot rely on “mere splation or conjecture as to theie nature of the facts to
overcome a motion for summary judgmendriight v. U.S. Fire Ins. Cp804 F.2d 9, 12 (2d
Cir. 1986) (quotindQuarles v. Gen. Motors Corp/58 F.2d 839, 840 (2d Cir. 1985)).
Furthermore, “[m]ere conclusory allegationsdenials . . . cannot by themselves create a
genuine issue of material fact afde none would otherwise existHicks v. Baines593 F.3d
159, 166 (2d Cir. 2010) (quotirigetcher v. Atex, In¢68 F.3d 1451, 1456 (2d Cir. 1995)).
V. DISCUSSION

Following the Court’s order on Defendantrtion for judgment on the pleadings,
(Dkt. No. 21), the parties agree that Plafrtidis four remaining aims: (1) disability

discrimination; (2) failure to accommodate hesattility; (3) retaliatbn for taking disability-

related medical leave; and (4) retaliation for é@mmplaints of sexual harassment. (Dkt. Nos{

56-26, pp. 9-10; 64, p. 4). The first threk amder the ADA, the fourth under Title VII.

In moving for summary judgment, Defendanjaes that: (1) Plaiiit cannot make out
a prima facie case of disabilitiscrimination or realiation under the ADAgr retaliation under
Title VII; (2) even if she did, Defendant fiadvanced a legitimate, non-discriminatory and
non-retaliatory reason for Plaintiff's ternaition; and (3) Defendhd did not fail to
accommodate Plaintiff because she never sought any accommodations due to her disab
(See generallpkt. No. 56-26). The Courtiassess each claim in turn.

A. ADA Discrimination
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Under Title | of the ADA, “[n]o covered ¢ity shall discriminate against a qualified
individual on the basis of disability in regkto job application procedures, the hiring,
advancement, or discharge of employeegqleyee compensation, job training, and other
terms, conditions, and privileges of emplaymh” 42 U.S.C. § 12112(a). In general, a
plaintiff can allege disability discriminatiaimder one of three theories: (1) intentional
discrimination (disparate treatment); (2) dispaiatpact; and (3) failureo make a reasonabl¢
accommodationFulton v. Goord 591 F.3d 37, 43 (2d Cir. 2009).

Claims alleging intentionaliscrimination in violation ofthe ADA are subject to the
burden-shifting analysis originallstablished by the Supreme CourMaoDonnell Douglas
Corp. v. Green411 U.S. 792 (1973).McMillan v. City of New York711 F.3d 120, 125 (2d
Cir. 2013). First, Plaintiff must establistpema facie case of dismination under the ADA.
Sista v. CDC Ixis N. Am., Inet45 F.3d 161, 169 (2d Cir. 2006). Second, if an employee
establishes a prima facie cabe employer must offer throughe introduction of admissible
evidence a legitimate non-digminatory reason for the [adkse action]; ad [third] the
plaintiff must then produce evidence and caley burden of persuasion that the proffered
reason is a pretext.Id.

1. Prima Facie Case

Defendant argues that Plaintiff cannot bt a prima facie case because she has
offered no evidence to raise an inference ofrdisoatory intent. (lt. No. 56-26, pp. 15-16)
In support of this argument, Defendant notes:t(i) it had notice dPlaintiff's Hashimoto’s
disease since the summer of 20@3;it had previously alloweBlaintiff medicdleave for her

disability; (3) BOCES “believed in good faith that Plaintiff had engaged in substantial
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misconduct justifying her terminati; and (4) Plaintiff was treated the same as a non-disa
employee, who was discharged at approxilgdtee same time for less miscondudid. ),

In response, Plaintiff contendlsat she has established a “strong inference of a caus
connection between her disabilignd related medical leave . . ., and [her] termination that
Defendant issued a short time later.” (Dkt. B4, p. 12). Specifically, she claims that she
informed BOCES of her disability on February 27, 2015, and then was “terminated very
shortly after Defendant learned her doctor taken her out, showingrteoral proximity . . .
and a causal nexus between her need for difin@ reasonable accommodation) and her
termination.” (d.).

In order to establish a prima facie caséntentional discmination under the ADA, a
plaintiff must show that: (1) the defendansigbject to the ADA; (2plaintiff suffers from a
disability within the meaning dhe ADA,; (3) plaintiff was othevise qualifiedto perform the
essential functions of the job, with or hatut reasonable accommodation; and (4) plaintiff
suffered an adverse employmenti@t because of her disabilitypicMillan, 711 F.3d at 125
(citing Sistg 445 F.3d at 169). Plaintiff's burdet the prima facie stageds minimis
Treglia v. Town of Manliys313 F.3d 713, 719 (2d Cir. 2002).

There is no dispute as tcetffirst three elements: that BOCES is subject to the ADA,
that Plaintiff suffers from Hastmoto’s disease—a disability within the meaning of the ADA
and that Plaintiff was generally capable of perfimg essential functionsf the job. (Dkt.

Nos. 56-26, pp. 15-16; 64, pp. 11-13). Therefine only remaining quésn as to the prima
facie case is whether Plaintifffeered an adverse employmentiantbecause of her disability

To make this connection, a plaintiff muktmonstrate that she “suffered an adverse

employment action under circurastes giving rise to an inferee of discriminatory interit
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Cortes v. MTA New York City Trans®02 F.3d 226, 231 (2d Cir. 2015) (citation omitted). A
plaintiff can establish an inference of discrintioa in various ways, such as direct proof of
“actions or remarks made by decisionmakbeg could be viewed as reflecting a
discriminatory animus."Chertkova v. Conn. Gen. Life Ins. C82 F.3d 81, 91 (2d Cir. 1996).
Without any direct proof, the “timing or geence of events leading to the plaintiff's
termination” can be a circumstance that gites to an inference of discriminatiofd.

Here, Plaintiff relies on evidence of temabproximity. She has shown that she
presented a doctor’s note to BOCES on M&80, 2015, which called for a month-long
medical leave. (Dkt. No. 56-13). It is undisputed that BOCES terminated Plaintiff's
employment just two days aftehe submitted notice of medidahve. (Dkt. No. 56-15).
Defendant argues that the decision to ternaifdaintiff's employment was made before she
submitted the doctor’s note. (Dkt. N&6-26, p. 16). However, given tde minimisburden at
the prima facie stage, Plairftif evidence of temporal proxiity is enough to permit an
inference of discriminatory intenSee, e.gMancini v. Accredo Health Grp., Inct11 F.
Supp. 3d 243, 251 (D. Conn. 2019) (finding thatplantiff’s termination less than two week
after a medical emergency was sufficient timlelssh a prima facie caf discrimination);
Trent v. Town of Brookhavei66 F. Supp. 2d 196, 206 (E.D.N.Y. 2013) (holding that
“temporal proximity may be sufficient to show a prima facie case”) (collecting cases);
Pellegrino v. Cnty. of Orang&13 F. Supp. 2d 303, 315 (S.D.N.Y. 2004) (finding that
temporal proximity between the plaintiff's anmaement of her pregnancy and the process
her termination was sufficient to establisprama facie case of employment discrimination).

2. Legitimate, Non-Discriminatory Reason

13
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Since Plaintiff has established a prima éacase of disability discrimination with
respect to Defendant’s decision to terménaér employment, tHeurden now shifts to
Defendant to demonstrate giemate, non-discriminatory ason for the adverse action.
United States v. Brennai50 F.3d 65, 93 (2d Cir. 2011). Defendant points to evidence th
the decision was based on legitimate, non-disicatory reasons, incling: (1) Plaintiff's
exchange of text messages wiitle classroom teacher throughout the school day, including
messages that criticized and mocked the classroom sociadmarté students in the class
(Dkt. Nos. 56-11; 56-22, 11 16-17); (2) corroboratgabrts from the clasoom social workers
that Plaintiff had not maintagd appropriate boundaries wigtudents (Dkt. Nos. 56-17; 56-
18); and (3) failure to comply with Assistant Qiter Koch’s directives not to return to the
classroom in an upset and @monal state (Dkt. No. 56-22f 10, 12—-15). This evidence
supports Defendant’s contention that Plafiids terminated for misconduct and acting
unprofessionally in the classroera legitimate, non-discriminatory reason for termination.
Therefore, Defendant has satsfits burden at the seconét and the burden now shifts
back to Plaintiff to show that these reasonsen@etextual and thaisability discrimination
was the but-for cause of her termination.

3. Pretext & Causation

A plaintiff's burden athe third step of thticDonnell Douglasanalysis is to “show
that the [defendant’s] proffered reason was tgeagretext for discrimination, which may be
demonstrated either by the presentation oftamdil evidence showing that the employer’s
proffered explanation is unwibry of credence, or by reliance on the evidence comprising t
prima facie case, without moreSistg 445 F.3d at 173 (citation orted). Generally, to

demonstrate pretext, “plaintiff[s] may rety evidence comprising [their] prima facie case,
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including temporal proximitytogether with other evidence such as inconsistent employer
explanations, to deé¢ summary judgment at that stag&ivan v. Andalex Grp. LLZ37 F.3d
834, 847 (2d Cir. 2013). In addition, to surisummary judgment th@aintiff must show a
genuine issue of fact thaer disability was thbut-for cause of the adverse actioBee
Natofsky v. City of New Yqrd21 F.3d 337, 348 (2d Cir. 201@he ADA requires a plaintiff
alleging a claim of employmendiscrimination to prove thatiscrimination was the but-for
cause of any adverse employment actian”).

Here, Plaintiff argues that the “tempopabximity between Plaintiff’s submission to
Defendant of her Doctor’s note and her subsetgtegmination from employment [is] such th
a nexus between her medical leavel her termination has bedroswn.” (Dkt. No. 64, p. 10).
She further claims that “the absence of angrpgroncerns or discipline as against Plaintiff
speaks volumes,” and adds thajt‘fs telling that the Defendant did not seek [to] discipline
Plaintiff for her alleged transgssion that it now clans led to her termation prior to finding
out about her need for a medicadVe prescribed by her doctorfd.j. Plaintiff also suggests
that Defendant’s unlawful mate is demonstrated by Princlg@ooper’s alleged questioning
about whether Plaintiff was suffering from Hambto’s Disease and “whether [she] was beir
honest about a medical appointment” on February 27, 201é.,"p( 15).

In response, Defendant asserts that its decis terminate Plairffiwas made prior to
her leave request, and furthermpthat Plaintiff may not relgolely on temporal proximity
between her leave and her tamation to establish pretex{Dkt. No. 65-4, pp. 6-9).
Defendant contends that sintéas “offered significant and, indeed, not-validly-disputed
evidence that Plaintiff engaged in substamtisdconduct prompting herrtaination, Plaintiff's

reliance on temporal proxinyiis inadequate to witheshd summary judgment.”ld;, p. 9).
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After careful review of the record, the Cofinds that Plaintiff has failed to meet her
burden at the third stage of thralysis. Although the temponatoximity between Plaintiff's
doctor’s note and termination provides an infeeeaf potential discrimination, it is not enoug
on its own to overcome Defendant’s well-doanted non-discriminatyg reasons for the
decision in this caseSee El Sayed v. Hilton Hotels Cqrf27 F.3d 931, 932-33 (2d Cir.
2010) (stating that “temporal proximity is insuféat to satisfy [a plaitiff's] burden to bring
forward some evidence of pretext8ge also Trent v. Town of Brookhay866 F. Supp. 2d
196, 206 (E.D.N.Y. 2013) (“Temporal proximity snhe sufficient to show a prima facie casg
but it is insufficient to demonstrate pretext.”).

As evidence of causation, the close tempprakimity is alsaundermined and all but
negated by the undisputed evidence that BOCHESrastrators started éhinvestigation into
Plaintiff's alleged inapproprta and unprofessional condindforeshe submitted notice of hef
medical leave. (Dkt. No. 56-22, 1 4-280OCES administrators testified that the
investigation began on March 27th and the denisp terminate Plaintiff’'s employment was
made on the morning of March 30th, which vka$oreshe submitted noticef medical leave.
(Id., 7 4-27; Dkt. No. 56-24, 11 2—4). Mr. Pettitt, who was responsible for scheduling a
meeting for administrators to iyt Plaintiff of her terminatn, had not yet reached out to
Plaintiff to set up that meeting when she deleethe doctor’s note. (Dkt. No. 65-2, 1 5).
Plaintiff has offered no evidence to rebut Defamits timeline of events. And contrary to
Plaintiff's claims, the fact that Defendant invgated the allegations ofisconduct against he

does not permit an inferenoéa discriminatory motivé.

3 Indeed, Defendant would have a duty to investighiégations of misconduct by any of its employee]
Plaintiff's claim about Principal Cooper'sugposed “skepticism” about Plaintiff's disability ang
February 27th medical appointment is also unavgili Plaintiff's deposition testimony shows thg
Principal Cooper did not express doubt about whétentiff had a disability, but rather she questione
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“|the exacsametreatment as Ms. Tianello (theaskroom teacher), who engaged in

Aside from temporal proximity, Plaintiff lsanot presented any evidence to connect her
disability to the decision to terminate her emphant. To the contrary, the record shows that
BOCES was aware of Plaintiffldashimoto’s disease as eaaly 2013 (Dkt. Nos. 56-25, T 13;
64-19, 1 13; 56-5, p. 17), and she had previotadgn medical leave for her disability without

objection or consequence, (Dkt. No. 56-5, pp. 18—19k also notabl¢hat Plaintiff received

inappropriate texting throughoutethworkday. Importantly, Mslianello, who does not suffer
from a disability, was terminated as part of the same investigation and at approximately the
same times Plaintiff. SeeDkt. No. 56-22, 11 17-20; Dkt. No. 64-3, p. 14). Thus, there ig no
evidence that Plaintiff was treated differentlaihco-workers that did not have disabilities,

and any possible causal connecti@tween Plaintiff’'s disability and her termination is refuted

A

by the fact that Ms. Tianelleeceived the same treatmei®eeMancini, 411 F. Supp. 3d at 251
(granting summary judgment onsdrimination claim where the ptdiff failed to “point to any
evidence that she was treated differently fithrer similarly situatedhon-disabled persons”);
Mattera v. JPMorgan Chase Cor@40 F. Supp. 2d 561, 575 (S.D.N.Y. 2010) (granting
summary judgment on discrimination claim whenggr alia, the plaintiff provided “no
evidence that any other employees who wersistently cited for ongoing issues of poor
performance did not suffer the same treathaes that directed towards him%ge alsd.opez v.

Hollisco Owners’ Corp.147 F. Supp. 3d 71, 78-79 (E.D.N2015) (finding the plaintiff

whether Plaintiff had an appointment on that speciéig. (Dkt. No. 56-5, p. 67). Plaintiff admitted
that she did not inform BOCES of the appointmemtil the morning of, and @n then, she informed
BOCES about the appointment 48 minutes after the school day bégap. Z1). Plaintiff was neither
disciplined nor terminated for henedical absence that dayld.( p. 22). Principal Cooper denies thgt
she ever expressed doubt about Plaintiff's Hashimoto’s disease. (Dkt. Nos. 56-22, 1 11; 56-20, 1 2).
Accordingly, Plaintiff's claim that Principal @dper questioned whether Plaintiff had a disability |s
belied by her own testimony and the undisputed facts, and therefore, does not provide any evidgnce of
a discriminatory motive.
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could not show pretext wheriater alia, there was “no evidence that any other employee
would be, or was, treated differently3ff'd, 669 F. App’x 590 (2d Cir. 2016).

In sum, Plaintiff has failed to adduceidence that reasonably supports a finding of
discriminatory intent based on her disabili§efendant’s explanatn that Plaintiff was
terminated because of her misconduct is istest throughout the record and supported by
sworn statements from nunogtis BOCES employeesSée generallpkt. Nos. 56-20; 56-22;
56-23; 56-24). Plaintiff has faitl to counter this explanatigparticularly since the record
demonstrates that the decisiortdominate her employment was desbefore her doctor’s notg
and Ms. Tianello was terminated for the samisconduct. Viewing the evidence in the light
most favorable to Plaintiff, no reasonableyjaould find that Defendant’s reasons were
pretextual and that Plaintiff’'s disability was thet-for cause of her teimation. Accordingly,
Defendant is entitled to summary judgmentPlaintiff’'s ADA disgimination claim. See El
Sayed 627 F.3d at 932—-33 (affirming the dismisshthe plaintiff’'sdiscrimination claim
where “[the plaintiff] producedo evidence other than tempopabximity in support of his
charge that the proffered reason for his discharge was pretextgd also Graham v. Three
Village C. Sch. Dist.No. 11-CV-5182, 2013 WL 5445736, at *26, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS
143264, at *87 (E.D.N.Y. Sept. 30, 2013) (granting summary judgment on discriminatory
discharge claim where the plaintiff “point[eid] nothing in the recorttom which a rational
jury could find her termination was ‘because leér hip impairment, or that the District’s
underlying motive to terminate hesas attributable to a discrimatory intent, and not to her
job performance,” and there wascontroverted evidence thalkaintiff was not the only
employee who was denied tenure atdbeclusion of her probationary period”).

B. ADA Failure to Accommodate
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Plaintiff alleges that she was deni@ttess to requested lunch breaks “as an

accommodation for her qualified disability sotasttend to the symptoms of her Hashimoto

S

disease.” (Dkt. No. 1, § 18). Plaintiff also claims that Defendant denied her disability-related

accommodations by terminating her employment rathem permitting her to take the medic
leave directed by her doctor. (Dkt. No. 64, p. 16).

Defendant argues that Plaintiff's failuregaocommodate claims “fail because she did
not indicate she needed lunch breaks duedabdity, she did not seek leave because of
disability and the leavwould not allow her to perform hpb.” (Dkt. No. 56-26, pp. 18-22).
Defendant also asserts thaaiRtiff’'s misconduct ad termination “had nothing to do with her
alleged disability or disabilities.”ld., pp. 19-22).

In response, Plaintiff claims thatrreccommodation requests for lunch breaks and
medical leave were “reasonabkid necessary due to “ongoing stresses at work which we
worsening [her] symptoms.” (Dkt. No. 64, p. 1Plaintiff further argues that, rather than
working with her to establish acceptable anowodations, “Defendant terminated [her] pre-
textually [sic] for ‘performance issues’, wherathn fact [sic], Defendant fired Plaintiff to
avoid paying her while she was out on leaved., (p. 16).

Under the ADA, employers are requiredtake “reasonable accommodations to the
known physical or mental limitations of an othesgvqualified individual with a disability . . .
unless such covered entity can demonstretethe accommodation would impose an undue
hardship.” 42 U.S.C. § 12112(b)(5)(A). Tdadish a prima facie failure to accommodate
claim, a plaintiff mustlemonstrate that: (1) [thplaintiff is a person wh a disability under the
meaning of the ADA; (2) an employer coverey the statute had notice of his [or her]

disability; (3) with reasonable accommodatifihe] plaintiff couldperform the essential
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functions of the job at issue; and (4) the emetdyas refused to make such accommodatiorns.

McMillan, 711 F.3d at 125-26. Here, the partialy dispute the last elementSgeDkt. Nos.
56-26, pp. 18-22; 64, pp. 13-16).

An accommodation request “contemplates]ongoing, informal, and interactive
process that ‘should identify thpgecise limitations ulting from the didaility and potential
reasonable accommodations that damtercome those limitations.’Quadir v. New York
State Dep’t of Labqr39 F. Supp. 3d 528, 539-40 (S.D.N.Y. 2014) (quoting 29 C.F.R. 8
1630.2). “[l]t is the responsibilitgf the individual with a didaility to inform the employer
that an accommodation is neede&&ingold v. Bon Secours Charity Health Sy&68 F. Supp.
2d 537, 543 (S.D.N.Y. 2011) (quotitgraves v. Finch Pruyn & Co., Inc457 F.3d 181, 184
(2d Cir. 2006)). While a formal writtengaest is not requiredhe request “must be

sufficiently direct and specific to give tleenployer notice of the needed accommodation.”

Dooley v. JetBlue Airways Cor®36 F. App’x 16, 18—-19 (2d Cir. 2015) (citation omitted). [In

other words, an employer cannot be saildawe refused an accoroaation if no request was
ever madeld. So, “[w]hat matters . . . are notifoalisms about the maer of the request,

but whether the [requestor or his repréagwe] provides the [requestee] with enough

information that, under the circumstances, the [retped can be fairly said to know of both the

disability and desire for an accommodatioQuandir, 39 F. Supp. 3d at 540 (quotiigylor
v. Phoenixville Sch. Dist184 F.3d 296, 313 (3d Cir. 1999)).

Here, with regard to the requested lunokalis, Plaintiff has failed to adduce evidenge
that she ever informed her supervisors thasé requests were relatecher disability and

necessary for her to perform her jolse€Dkt. No. 64, pp. 13-16). Indeed, Plaintiff does nat
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identify when or to whom she directed her requedts).{ Principal Cooper testified that she
did not remember Plaintiff ever asking for kear lunch breaks. (. No. 56-6, p. 7).
Moreover, Plaintiff testifiedhat the only disability-relattaccommodations she needs for
Hashimoto’s disease is help with physical aspef the job, includig restraining and lifting
aggressive or violent students. (Dkt. No. 5¢:514). Plaintiff has rtcclaimed that Defendant
ever denied any accommodation related to thesiphl aspects of her work at BOCES.

In sum, even if Plaintiff did requestdaks and Defendant denied them, there is no
evidence that BOCES knew or should hiamewn that the request was necessary to
accommodate Plaintiff's disability. Thus, Plaihtifas failed to establish a prima facie case fas
to the alleged breatccommodationsSee Blundell v. Nihon Kohden Ameritk. 15-CV-
1503, 2018 WL 4609125, at *10-12, 2018 WD&st. LEXIS 163948, at *26—-32 (N.D.N.Y.
Sept. 25, 2018) (dismissing the plaintiff's acoonodation claims where he failed to present
evidence that “he ever actually made guest for these acconudations based on his
disability to the ppropriate people”).

Plaintiff has also failed to make a prirfi@ie showing that she was wrongfully denied
an accommodation with respgotmedical leave. SeeDkt. No. 64, pp. 13-16).

Notably, the March 30th note from Plaintiff’'s @or vaguely describes the “nature of the
illness/injury” as “medical,” without any furthexplanation or reference to her disability.
(Dkt. No. 56-13). There is no iekence whatsoever that Plaihgver told anyone at BOCES
that the medical leave was disability-relatedarecessary accommodation, either before of

any time after she submitted the notice. Furttiere is no evidence that she was denied thie

B

* Plaintiff offers no evidence whatsoever tha¢ shformed BOCES that ¢hrequested breaks werg
necessary to accommodate her disabilitgeeDkt. No. 64-2, 1 16-18). Further, Defendant inquirgd
about Plaintiff's alleged request for breaks in anriotgatory, but Plaintiff failed to provide any details
as to when and to whom the breaks wdlegadly requested. (Dkt. No. 56-4, pp. 5-6).

"L
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medical leave; rather the record shows Blaintiff submitted notice of her medical leaafter
the process for the termination of her empheyt had already begun. As discussed above,

Plaintiff's termination was supported by well-documented evidence that she engaged in

workplace misconduct and insubordination. Sherw pointed to any authority that BOCES$

was required to grant her medical leave whiléhmprocess of termating her employment fof
these reasons.

Viewing the evidence in the light most favblato Plaintiff, no reasonable jury could
find that Plaintiff was deniedn accommodation for hdisability based on her vague reques|
for medical leave while BOCES was in fi@cess of terminaig her employmentSee Kho v.
New York and Presbyterian Hosf44 F. Supp. 3d 705, 721 (S.D.N.Y. 2018) (finding that t
plaintiff failed to establish a prima faciessawhere there was no evidence that she ever
requested an accommodmtifor her disability)Clark v. New York State Elec. & Gas Corp.
67 F. Supp. 2d 63, 73—75 (N.D.N.Y. 1999) (dnmnagn summary judgment on the plaintiff's
accommodation claims where she failed to shiwat her termination for her poor work
performance was not a legitimate reason for herd)ri Accordingly, Defendant is entitled to
summary judgment on Plaintiff'sA failure to accommodate claim.

C. ADA Retaliation

Plaintiff also appears tdlage a retaliation claim under the ADA, with her doctor’s
note being the protected activitySdeDkt. Nos. 1, 1 9; 64, pp. 11-13). Defendant argues t
“Plaintiff cannot make out prima facie claim ofetaliation under the ADA because the

decision to terminate was made before her dicgttor’s note.” (Dkt. No. 56-26, p. 16). In

A4

hat

response, Plaintiff asserts tlshie can establish a prima facase because she was “terminated
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shortly after Defendant learnedridoctor had taken her out,” atidefendant fired Plaintiff to
avoid paying her while she was art leave.” (Dkt. No. 64, pp. 12-13).

Retaliation claims brought under the Al2#e examined under the three-step
McDonnell Douglasurden-shifting frameworkTreglia, 313 F.3d at 719. At the first step,
Plaintiff must establish a prima facie case, whiequires her to show:1J participation in a
protected activity; (2) that the defendant wnef the protected activity; (3) an adverse
employment action; and (4) a causal connedtiemveen the protectedtadty and the adverse
employment action."Wright v. City of Syracusé€11 F. App’x 8, 11 (2d Cir. 2015). Again,
the prima facie showing e minimis Treglia, 313 F.3d at 719. “Once a plaintiff establishg
a prima facie case of retaliatigdhge burden shifts to the defendant to articulate a legitimate
non-retaliatory reason for the dlemged employment decisionld. at 721. “If a defendant
meets this burden, ‘the plaintiff must pointaeidence that would sufficient to permit a
rational factfinder to conclude that the emy@r’s explanation is merely a pretext for
impermissible retaliation.”ld. (quotingCifra v. G.E. Cq, 252 F.3d 205, 216 (2d Cir. 2001)).

The first two steps are metrfthe reasons discussed aboleshort, the close temporg
proximity between Plaintiff's notice of medidalave and termination is sufficient to make ol
a prima facie case of retaliatiomefendant’s proffered reas for terminating Plaintiff's
employment, namely her alleged workplacisconduct and insubordination, is well-
documented, legitimateand non-retaliatory.

Plaintiff's retaliation claim fails at step three ofetlanalysis, for the same reasons
discussed above. In particular, the recdralgs that the decision was made to terminate

Plaintiff's employment before hgrotected activity, and her aworker Ms. Tianello was also
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terminated for misconduct, and without any evidence that she engaged in protected acti
(SeeDkt. Nos. 56-22, 11 4, 16, 20-25; 64-152p56-24, 1 2—4; 56-20; 56-22; 56-23).

In sum, Plaintiff has presented no eviderasde from temporal pkimity, to draw a
connection between her noticernédical leave and Defendantiecision to terminate her

employment. This alone is not enough touteDefendant’s well-docuemted reasons for the

ty.

decision to terminate her employment, partidylgiven the attenuating evidence noted aboye.

Viewing the evidence in the light most favoratiePlaintiff, a jury could not reasonably find
that Defendant’s stated reasons for the advetsEnagere a pretext for dawful retaliation.
Accordingly, Defendant is entitled to summauggment on Plaintiff's ADA retaliation claim.
See Widomski v. State Univ. of Néark, 933 F. Supp. 2d 534, 553 (S.D.N.Y. 2013)
(dismissing the plaintiff's ADA riliation claim where her clai relied solely on temporal
proximity and the plaintiff otherwise failgd rebut the defendant’s legitimate, non-
discriminatory justification for the plaintiff’'s termination).
D. Title VIl Retaliation

Finally, Plaintiff alleges that Defendant amlfully retaliated aginst her for reporting
alleged sexual harassment that she experiandée classroom. (Dkt. No. 1, 11 11, 30).
Defendant argues that Plaintiff cannot maké a prima facie Title VII retaliation claim
because she cannot show any causal connectimed® her complaintand the termination of
her employment. (Dkt. No. 56-2p, 17). Defendant points otlitat Assistant Director Koch
and Principal Cooper told Plaintiff that she should not be sw@gdotthe comments of the tw
minor students,” and then “move[d] her to avdassroom for her own protection — an action

that contemplated her remaining in employmenld.)( Defendant adds that, “[o]ther than

temporal proximity, Plaintiff advances no otlsidence to show Defendant’s rationale for her
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termination was a pretext for retaliatiorsbd on her complaintd purported sexual
harassment.” (Dkt. No. 65-4, pp. 9-10).

Title VII prohibits discriminatory retaliation against an employee who complains of
purportedly unlawful practice. 42 U.S.C. § 2008e Like Plaintiff’s ADA retaliation claim,
her Title VII retaliation claim is also subject to tkleDonnell Douglasurden-shifting
analysis. See Littlejohn v. City of New Y@rKO5 F.3d 297, 315 (2d Cir. 2015). To make out
prima facie case, a plaintiff must show thaj: she engaged in agtected activity; (2) the
employer was aware of this adtiy (3) the employer took adversction against her; and (4)
causal connection exists between the proteatdéidity and the adverse action, i.e., that a
retaliatory motive was the but-for cause of the adverse employment agigtg.445 F.3d at
177;see also Miller, v. City of Ithaca, New Yprb8 F. App’x 101, 104 (2d Cir. 2018).

Here, Plaintiff has satisfied hde minimisburden to demonstrate a prima facie case
Specifically, Plaintiff has established that sheorted the sexual comments she received frg
students to BOCES administrators on Me2@, 2015, and Defendant terminated her
employment four days later. Axplained above, this evidence of close temporal proximity
sufficient to infer causation #te prima facie stageSee St. Juste v. Metro Plus Health Rian
F. Supp. 3d 287, 329-31 (E.D.N.Y. 2014) (findihgt the plaintiff sasfied her burden to
make out a prima facie case for Title VIl deton by showing temporal proximity between
her allegations of seal harassment andhiermination).

At step two, Defendant has adduced ewick that it had legitimate, non-retaliatory
reasons for terminating Plaiffits employment based on misconduct and insubordinatiSee
generallyDkt. No. 56-22). As discussed above, #ngdence is sufficient to demonstrate

legitimate, non-retaliatory reasofws Plaintiff's termination.

25

a

S



At step three, with the burden shifted back to Plaintiff, she has failed to bridge any
connection between her complamnd the termination of hemployment. Once again,
Plaintiff mainly relies on evidence of tempopbximity, adding conclusory speculation that
BOCES did not want to pay her while she wasaumedical leave. (Dkt. No. 64, pp. 8-11)
As discussed above, temporal groity alone is not enough at this stage. Plaintiff also arguies
“|that her lack of disciplinary histoig evidence of retaliatory motiveS€eDkt. No. 64, p. 10).
However, the lack of any previous disciplipdnistory does not refute the well-documented
evidence of her misconduct and insubipation cited for her termination.

Further, any inference of retaliatory intémundermined by the rembas whole. The
undisputed evidence shows that immediately ddtmming of the students’ alleged miscondult,
Assistant Director Koch interweed staff and students with knowledge of what was going ¢n.
(Dkt. No. 56-22, 11 4-6, 16—24). BOCES administsatoformed Plainff that the students’
conduct was inappropriate and should have bgeortedd directly to them. (Dkt. No. 56-22, 1|
6). They then offered to reassign Plaintifetmew classroom, “fdner own protection from
any inappropriate comments.Td(). According to Assistant Dector Koch, Plaintiff resisted
their decision to reassign her to a new classrodd, [ 7, 10). The investigation later
revealed that Plaintiff and the classroomcteer had been text messaging throughout the
school day, including inappropriate and unprsi@sal discussion about other classroom staff
and students.See generallpkt. No. 56-11). According tDefendant, it was the culminatior]
of events during the investigation and the administrators’ conclusions after the investigation
that led to their decision terminate Plaintiff's employenmt, not because she reported
complaints to them. (Dkt. Nos. 56-2224; 56-24, 11 2—-4). And as discussed above,

Plaintiff's co-worker Ms. Tianello was alg¢erminated for mdfy the same conduct.
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In sum, viewing the facts in the light mdatorable to Plaintff a jury could not
reasonably find that Defendanstated reasons were pretextaatl that unlawful retaliation
was the but-for cause of her terminati@®ee Drouillard v. Sprint/United Mgmt. C&75 F.
Supp. 3d 245, 272—-74 (E.D.N.Y. 2019) (dismissirgghaintiff's Title VIl retaliation claim
where she failed to present suiiiat evidence of causation, other than temporal proximity g
speculation, to rebut the defendant’s legaimreason for the afjed adverse actionpharpe
v. Utica Mut. Ins. Cq.756 F. Supp. 2d 230, 249-52 (N.D.N.Y. 2010) (same). Accordingly|
Defendant is entitled to summary judgmentRiaintiff's retaliationclaim under Title VII.
V. CONCLUSION

For these reasons, it is

ORDERED that Defendant’s motion for sunary judgment (Dkt. No. 56) is
GRANTED; and it is further

ORDERED that Plaintiff's Complaint (Dkt. No. 1) iIBISMISSED with prejudice;
and finally, it is

ORDERED that the Clerk provide a copy of tiemorandum-Decision and Order tg
the parties in accordance with the Local Rules of the Northern District of New York.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

Date: March 3, 2020
Syracuse, New York

Senior U.S. District Judge
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